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A grand jury indictedJohana Leoron one count of conspiracy to commit
wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349, four counts of money laundering, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), and three countatEmpting to cause a
financial institution tonot file a required currenctransaction report (a CTR), in
violation of 31 U.S.C.8 5324(a)(1)& (d)(2). Following trial, a jury foundMs.

Leon guilty ofthe three $324(ajl) charges but acquitted hertbe conspiracy
and money laundering charge3he district court, varying @vnward from the
advisory guideline range, sentenced Ms. Leon to a term of imprisonment of 12

months and one day.

At no time during trial did Ms. Leon challenge the government’s theory of
prosecution or object to the jury instructions given by the district couthe §
5324(a)(1)charges Now, on appeal, Ms. Leaontenddor the first time that the
government and the district court constructively amended the indictment, allowing
her to be tried and convicted of violating 8 5324(a)§Bdnot § 5324(a)(1).She
furtherargueson a theoryalsonot presented to the district couttat the evidence
was insufficient to sustain her convictionReviewing for plain errorsee United
Sates v. Holt, 777 F.3d 1234, 1261 (11tGir. 2015), we repct Ms. Leons
constructive amendment claim. We also conclad@jnunder p&in error review,
see United Sates v. Joseph, 709 F.3d 1082, 1103 (11€@ir. 2013, thatMs. Leon’s
8§ 5324(a)(1xonvictionswere supported by sufficient evidence.
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Federal law allows the Secretary of the Treasury to require, by way of
regulations, that domestic financial institutions file reports of certain traosacti
Se 31 U.S.C. § 3513(a). Under one suchregulation, domestidinancial
institutions have degal obligationto report, through the filing of a CTRa
transaction in currency of more th&10,000° 31 C.F.R.§ 1010.311. Such a
report ‘shall be filed by the financial institution within 15 days following the day

on which the reportable transaction occurregll CF.R.§1010.306(a)(1)

A “financial institution includes all of its domestic branch offices . . . for
purposes of the transactions in currency reporting requirements[.]” 31 C.F.R. §
1010313(a). The saalled “aggregation” rulgorovides that, in “the case of
financial institutions other than casinos, for purposes of the transactions in
currercy reporting requirements . multiple currency transactions shall be treated
as a single transaction if the financial institution has knowledge that they are by or
on behalf of any person and resinteither cash in or cash out totaling more than

$10,000 during any one business dayBJL C.F.R. § 1010.313(b).

In relevant part31 U.S.C. § 5324(a) provides that “[n]o person shall,Her t
purpose of evading the reporting requirements of section[s] 5313(a) or 5325 or any

regulation poscribed under any such section. (1) cause or attempt to cause a
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domestic financial institution to fail to file a report required under section[s]
5313@) or 5325 or any regulation prescribed undey such section,” or “(3)
structure or assist in structuring, or attempt to structure or assist in structuring, any
transaction with one or more domestic financial institutionss’ noted, the grand

jury chaged Ms. Leon with three violations of § 5324(a)(1).

We have explained that § 5324(a)(1) was “aimed at efforts to prevent a
required CTR from being filed,” while § 5324(a)(3) “was aimed at structuring
[transactions}o evadethe CTR requirements.”United Sates v. Phipps, 81 F.3d
1056, 1060 (11tiCir. 1996). And we have held that “§ 5324(a)€lyiolated only
when an individual causes [or attempts to cause] a financial instindicio file a
CTR that it had a legal duty to file.”ld. at 1062 (holding that evidence was
insufficient as a matter of law to sustaandefendant’sconvictions under 8
5324(a)(1) becausas only checks were depositdtk bank was never required to
file a CTR). So a person violates § 5324(a)(1) ifdreangedinancid transactions
in an attempt to prevent a financial institution from complying with its duty to file
a CTRfor thoseaggregatedransactions See id. at 1061. On the other hand, a
personviolates 8§ 5324(a)(3) if she structures financial transactions d¢gade
reporting requirements and those transactiordividually or collectively,do not

trigger the institution’obligationto file a CTR. Seeid. See also Courtney Linn,
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Redefining the Bank Secrecy Act: Currency Reporting and the Crime of

Structuring, 50 Santa Clara L. Rev. 407, 489 (2010).

This case centermn Paradise Is Mine, a Florida corporation which purported
to offer investment opportunities in a residential real estate development pmoject |
Rum Cay,locatedin the Bahamas. Ms. Lemerved ashe registered agent of
Paradise anavasone of its corporate officers. She had sole signatory authority
over Paradise’s bank accounts. Lawrence Foster, Ms. Leowsfendant, was

Paradise’s president.

According to the indictment, Mr. FosteMs. Leon, and Jordon McCarst
third co-defendantimade fraudulent misrepresentations and promises to investors
about the Rum Cay project (e.g., that Paradise was a successful real estate
company with large land holdingthat Paradise had been featured in hundreds of
international publicationghat investors would receive abererket fixed rates of
return, and that investors would get back their full principal invessradtdr a
certain period of time). Ms. Leon, the government claimed, withdreestor

funds for herself and her @efendants from accounts controlled by Paradise.

As pertinent here, the indictmerdlleged that Ms. Leerknowingly,

willfully, and for the purpose of avoidindederal reporting requiremerks
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attemptedo cause Bank of Asricanot to filerequiredCTRs concerning currency
transactions exceedind.@,000,while violating another federdw and as part of

a pattern of illegal activity involving more than $100,000 in arighth period.
See § 5324(a)(1) & (d)(2) According to Count 12, odanuary 302012, she made
five cashwithdrawals in the amounts of $9,500, $5,500, $1,430, $1,000, and $400
According to Count 13, oduly 9,2012,she made threeashwithdrawals in the
amounts of $6,000, $3,998nd $500 And according to Count 14, on September
20, 2012, she madwo cashwithdrawals in the amounts oPB46and $300 As

the indictment waspled, the governmentessentially charged thatthese
withdrawals when aggregatedn a daily basissee 31 C.F.R. §1010.313(b),
triggered Bank of America’s obligation to file CTRs, and that Ms. Leon made the
withdrawals in amounts of less than $10,000 to try to cause Bank of America to

not file CTRs.

At trial, the government presented evidence that, pursuant to ufyeas
regulations, a financial institution is required to file a CTR when tleege gash
transaction of over $10,00(ee D.E. 456 at 84142; D.E.455 at 73233. An FBI
forensic accoumint explained that the chart contained in Government Exhibit 815
sepaated the cashed checks and withdrawalddig and, using Counts 13 aidl
as examples, testified that therency transactions on the datesgquestion were
added together to exceed the $10,000 reporting thresisewD.E. 457 at 1030

6
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31, 131142, 105052. Both the government and Ms. Leon, in their opening
statements and closing arguments to the jury, understood that Cotirswigte
based on an “aggregation” theory, even though that word was not used in the
indictment See D.E. 526 atl5-19 (gowernment’s opening statemeni),E. 526 at

35, 38, 40 (Ms. Leon’s opening statemem)fE. 461 at 5465 (government’s

closing argument); D.E. 528 at 25 (Ms. Leon’s closing argument).

With respect to Counts 1?4 themselvesthe evidence at trial, viewed the
light most favorable to theerdict see, e.g., United Sates v. Wilson, 788 F.3d
1298, 1309 (11tiCir. 2015), allowed the jury to find that Ms. Leon, who was the
only signatory on Paradise’s four corporate bank accounts, had engaged in the
chargedcurrencytransactionsat Bank of America in 2012 .See, e.g., Gov't Ex.
815; Govt Ex. 815¢ D.E. 457 at 10336, 105051; D.E. 456 at 9224. The
evidence also allowed the jury to find that Ms. Leon acted with the intent to evade
the reporting requirements because she arranged each afatgedtransactions
to be below $10,000 in an attempt to cause Bank of America to not file required
CTRs. In addition to thechargedwithdrawals the government presented evidence
that, in a separate transaction in March of 2011, Ms. Leon told a telldP at
Morgan Chase that she was trying to avoid the filing of a CTR and #dskeeller
to reverse a particular transaction so that she would receive less thaAGin
cash. See D.E. 456 at 84849, 855. An internal JP Morgan Chase form filbed
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by that teller reportedthat Ms. Leon had “done this several times before and has

had similar transaction[s].See D.E. 456 at 849, 855 (referring to Gofex. 701)

A constructive amendmertb an indictment occurswhen the theory or
evidencepresented by the governmesde, e.g., Holt, 777 F.3dat 126162, or the
jury instructions see, e.g., United Sates v. Williams, 527 F.3d 1235, 12446 (11th
Cir. 2008), alter the “essential elements” of the offense containée indictment
to broaden the possible bases for comon beyond what is charged.A
constructive amendment, when established, is reversible error if the claim has been

preserved.See, e.g., Stironev. United Sates, 361 U.S. 212, 2139 (1960).

Ms. Leon’scontentionis that the government’s theory aeddence, as well
as the district court’s jury instructions, constructively amended the indictment by
allowing her to be convicted of violating 82%4a)(3) instead of § I4(a)(1).
Because Ms. Leon did not raise her constructive amendment argument in the
district court, our review is for plain errorSee Holt, 777 F.3d at 1261United
Sates v. Madden, 733 F.3d 1314, 13182 (11th Cir. 2013) That means that Ms.
Leon must show that there was error, that the error was plain, antthéhaitror
affected ler substantial rightslf she carries her burden, we may correct the error

if it seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial
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proceedings.See Madden, 777 F.3dat 131922 (discussing and applyirignited
Sates v. Olano, 507U.S. 725, 732 (1993), to a forfeited constructive amendment

claim).

A

According to Ms. Leon, the offense of “structuring” is prohibited by §
5423@)(3) but not by § 5423(a)(1). Building on this premise, Ms. Leon argues that
there was a constructive antenent—allowing her to be convictedf uncharged
85342(a)(3) offenses—because the government repeatedlysal the term
“structuring” when referring to Counts 1P4. We are not persuaded. Both parties
used the term “structuring” at trial, and the usehat term did not constructively

amend the indictment.

In its opening statement, the governmdwnice referred to Ms. Leon’s
conduct as “structuring,” telling the jury that cash was withdrawn in amounts of
less than $10,000 in order to tryawoid Bankof America filing CTRs. Seg, e.g.,

D.E. 526 at 16 (This is structuring. This is a design.id. at 19 (“Ms. Leon is
guilty of structuring, of withdrawing $9,985, $9,875, arranging those transactions
so that the banks don’t report it.”But the governmant was not alone in the use of

the term “structuring.”
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In her opening statemen¥s. Leontold the jury that she was Mr. Foster’s
personal assistanthat she had been romantically involved with Mr. Fogsteaif
Paradise was in her name because Mr. Ftatther he had bad credit following a
divorce,that she did not profit from Paradise, and that she made withdrawals from
Paradise’s accounts based on instructions she received from Mr.. Festes.g.,

id. at 33 (“She went to the bank as instructed. She made deposits and withdrawals
as instructed.”). Like the government, she referred several ton@@sunts 1214

as “structuring charges."Se id. at 35 (And that’s important because of those
structurirg charges the government talked to you abpud’ at 37 (“Because in

order to findJohana Leon guilty of what they say she did, each one of those
charges, each one, the wire fraud the government talked to you about, the money
laundering, the structuring, require her to have knowingly [ ] partj@dain a

fraud and acting to further it.”jd. at 38 (“The same thing with the structuring
counts: she didn't write them [the checks]id. at 40 (“I think the most important

thing, goingback to the structuring counts . . . the handwriting is not hers.”)

In its Rule 29 argument, and in its closing argument, the government again
referred to Counts 124 as “structuring.”See D.E. 461 a22 (government’s Rule
29 argument: “she structured those transactiond)at 55 (government’s closing
argument: “And she’s charged with structuring, taking that money out in under
$10,000.”). But sotoo did Ms. Leon. See D.E. 461 at 24 (Ms. Leon’s Ru29

10
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argument: “With regard to the structuring counts, I'll focus particularly on Count
15[sic] . . . . So there’s just no evidence to suggest that this charge was structured
in a way to avoid a reporting requirement.”); D.E. 528 at 25 (Ms. Leon’s closing
argument: “The structuring counts are the other series of counts involving Ms.
Leon, and there are three of theamd in order . . . to find that Ms. Leon was
structuring, you have to find that she arranged these transactions, they were each

less than $1,000, but when you agglomerate them, they’re more than $10,000.”).

It is true that the word “structure” is contained in32&@a)(3) and not in §
5423(a)(1), and that coursemetimegefer to the offense set out in §&)a)(3) as
“structuring” See, e.qg., United Sates v. Lang, 732 F.3d 1246, 12448 (11th Cir.
2013. But we do not think that the partiegint use of the term “structuring” as
shorthand for arranging the withdrawals in questitime conduct chargedin

Counts 1214—constructivelyamenaed the indictment.

The title of § 5324 is ‘Structuring to evade reporting requirements
prohibited.” Given thatsubsection(a)(l) is a part of 85324, generally
characterizinghe conduct charged in Counts-12 as “structuring while maybe
a bit loosesee Phipps, 81 F.3d alLl060,is notreversible error.n fact, some gurts
and commentatordave referred to both 8§ I4a)(1) and § 824(a)(3) as
“structuring” offensesleading us to conclude that the parties’ word choice did not

result in aconstructive amendmentee United Sates v. Abdelbary, 496 F. App’X
11
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273, 276, 2012 WL 5352515t *2 (4th Cir. Oct. 31, 2012) (“Federal law
criminalizes two ypes of structuring. The first type, imperfect structuring, is
prohibited by 8 5423(a)(1) andgscribes conduct designé defeat the bank’s
responsibility to report.The second type, perfect structuring, is prohibited by §
5423(a)(3) and criminalizes conduct designed ‘to avoid triggering the bank’s duty
to report.™) (quotingUnited States v. Peterson, 607 F.3d 975, 9801th Cir. 2010))

Linn, Currency Reporting and the Crime of Sructuring, 50 Santa Clara L. Resat

451 (“Imperfect’ structuring, as defined under subsection 5324(a)(1), is similar [to
subsection 5324(a)(B) . . [and] occurs when a [person] attempts to defeat a
financial institution’s reporting or recordkeeping requirement in a transaction or
series of transactions that nonetheless implicate that duty.”); Steven Mark Levy,
Federal Money Laundering 8 13[A] (CCH 2016) (“Conduct prohibited by
Section 5324(a)(B-that [is] designed to defeat the financial institution’s
responsibility to repor-is known as ‘imperfect structuring..”) See also United
Sates v. Tobon-Builes, 706 F.2d 1092, 1098L{th Cir. 1983)(referring, in case
decided prior to codification of §324(a)(1), to conduct similar to Ms. Leon’s as
“structuring”). Finally, a Treasury regulation defining the terms “structure” and
“structuring” contemplateghat one can “structure” currency transaef by
splitting up withdrawals or depositisat together exceed the reporting threstadld

a single bank on a single day, and explains that “structuringdtiimited to that

12



Case: 15-12578 Date Filed: 11/16/2016  Page: 13 of 19

scenario.See 31 C.F.R. § 1010.100(xx) The transaction or transactions need
exceed the $10,000 reporting threshold at any single financial institution on any

single day in order to constitute structuring within the meaning of this defifijtion.

B

We turnnextto thedistrict court’s jury instructiosfor Counts 1214, which
form the second ground for Ms. Leon’s constructive amendment .clalime

instructiors wereas follows:

.. . Counts 12 through 14 allege that defendant Johana Leon
attempted to cause a financial institution to not file a report required
by law.

| will explain the law governing those substantive offenses in a
moment. . . .

It's a federal crime under certagwrcumstances for anyone to
knowingly evade a currendggansaction reporting requirement.

Domestic financial institutions and banks (with specific
exceptions) must file currendsansaction repost that's aForm 4789
with the government. They must lisall deposits, withdrawals,
transfers, or payments involving more than $10,000 in cash or
currency.

The defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the
following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) the defendant knowingly attempted to structure the
transactios to cause alomesticfinancial institution to fail to file a
report;

13
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(2) the purpose of the transaction was to evade the transaction
reporting requirements;

(3) the transactiainvolved one or more domestic financial
institutions; and

(4) the currency transaction with the domestic financial
institutions furthered anothdederal crime as part of a pattern of
illegal activity involving more than $100,000 in a-a®nth period.

To “structure” a transaction means to deposithdraw, or
otherwise participate in transferring a total of more t#i&@,000in
cash or currency using a financial institution or bank by intentionally
setting up or arranging a series of separate transactions, each on
involving less than $10,000, order to evade the currenogporting
requirement that would have applied if fewer transactions had been
made.

D.E. 528 at 40, 4617. Ms. Leon did not object to #seinstructiors at the charge

conference.See D.E. 527 at 5.

In support of her constructive amendment claim, Ms. Leon argues that the
instructions forthe § 5324(a)(1) chargesvere the Eleventh Circuit “pattern
instruction[s] for 8 534(a)(3).]” Br. of Appellant at 48. But that is not
completely accurate. The instructions given by the district court were actually a
modified version of the pattern instructions for § 5324(a)(B)e two substantive
modificationsfrom the pattern instructions were that element (1) was changed to
reflect that Ms. Leon was charged with knowingly attempting to cause a financial

institution to not file aCTR, and that the word “structured” was removed from

14
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element (3). Compare Eleventh Cir. Pattern Jury InstOffense InstNo. 112

(West2010.*

Nevertheless, the instructioggven by the district court were not perfect.
They did not mention th@reasury’s“aggregation” regulation, under which the
government was proceeding, and which provides that multiple currency
transaction®n the same day are treated a single transafifoG@ TR purposes if
“the financial institution has knowledge that they are by or on behalf of any person
and result, in either cash in or cash out totaling more than $10,00Q éuny one
business day[.]"31 C.F.R. § 1010.313(b). Artte instructionsould have been
more clear thatas required byPhipps, 81 F.3d at 1062, a person cannot be
convicted of violating $324(a)(1) unless the financial institution’s obligation to
file a CTR has been triggeredhrough, for example, the application of the
“aggregation” regulation). But thesaeficienciesdid not, under plain error

analysis, amount to a constructive amendment of the indictment.

First, the instructions set ouh number ofelements consistentith the
language of § 5324(a)(1). Those were that a persstohact with a purpose to

evade the reporting requirements (the language in (a) preceding (1)), and that a

! The Eleventh Circuit does not have a pattern jury instruction $05224(a)(1) offense.
Nor, apparently, do any of our sister circuitSiven the issues raised in this casemight be a
good idea to create such a pattern jury instruction.

15
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person hato attempt to cause a financial institution to fail to file a report requir

by law (the language in (1)).

Second, theise of the word “structure” in the instructionas prejudiciato
Ms. Leononly if the jury also knew that there was a separate prowisi@n, 8
5324a)(3)—that prohibited “structuring” in circumstances where the financial
institution’s duty to report was not triggered. The jury did not know that, so there
Is no indication that the word “structure” was understood as anything other than
“arrange.” That is certaiy the way the parties understood the instructions during
their closing argumentsSee, e.g., D.E. 528 at 25 (Ms. Leon’s closing argument:
“The structuring counts are the other series of counts involving Ms. Leon, and in
order . . . to find that Ms. Leamasstructuring, you have to find that sreranged
these transactions, they were each less than $10,000, but when you agglomerate

them, they’re more than $10,000.”) (emphasis added).

Third, although theTreasury’s“aggregation” regulation explains whemd
how a financial institution’s obligation to file a CTR is triggered througlhtiple
daily transactions that aesch individuallybelow the reporting threshold,is not
clear that “aggregation” is, in and of itself, a distinct elemenarofattemptto
cause” charge undgy 5324(a)(1). We have not issued any binding (or, for that
matter nonbinding) decisions to that effect. The same goes for the financial

institution’s knowledge that the separate transactions are by or on behalf of the
16
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same persa We have neveheld,in a published or nepublished opinion, that
the financial institution’s knowledge, which allows for aggregation, islament

of a 8§ 5324(a)(1Yattempt to causebffense. And, as far as we can tell, nor has
any other court. Ihis circuit “[a] district court’s error is not ‘plain’ or ‘obvious’

if there is no precedent directly resolving the issugnited Sates v. Magluta, 198

F.3d 1265, 1280 (11th Cir. 1999).

Fourth, even if we assumeithout decidingthat the financial institution’s
knowledge (which permits “aggregation” ofseparate transactions under the
Treasury regulations an element of a § 5324(a)(1) offenenthe most that we
are presented with an@ry instructions that omitted an elemeoit the crimes
charged in Counts 124. Such a claim would also be reviewed for plain error
because it was not assertadhe district court See Johnson v. United Sates, 520
U.S. 461,466-70 (1997) @pplying plain error review to forfeited claim thairy
instructions omittechn element of the offense). But Ms. Leon’s claim is not that
the instructions were missing a required element. It is, insteadry different

claim—that the instructions constructively amended the indictment and allowed

2 Another problem for Ms. Leon in meeting the plain error standard is that we have also
never said anything about the temporal nature of a financial institution’s knowlédggeming
that suchknowledge is an element of an “attempt to cause” charge @8824(a)(1), is the
institution required to have knowledge on the date of the multiple transactions in queéStaon?
it acquire the knowledge at any time before the CTR is due 15 days later? ©Oacguire the
requisiteknowledgeany ime before trial even though ti&-day period has expir@dWe leave
these issues for another day.

17
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her tobe convicted of a neoharged offense. And we do not think that happened

here.

Y

Ms. Leon argues that there was no evidence “whatsoever” that she attempted
to cause Bank of America to not file any CTRs Br. for Appellant at 53, but
that onesentence argumemt her briefis devoid of any discussion of the record
and fails to cite any cases or authoritié¢er main assertigras gleaned from the
other parts of her briegeems to béhat the governmentifad to put on evidence
that her transactions triggered Bank of America’s obligation to file CTRhe®

daesin question.

Normally we exercise plenary review over sufficiency drales, see
generally Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979), butsMLeon did not
make this particularaggregationargument when she moved for a Rule 29
judgment of acquittal in the district cousee D.E. 461 at 245, so we review for
plain error. See Joseph, 709 F.3d 1103.Based on our independent review of the
trial record,which we have summarized abows. Leon has not met the plain

error standard with respect to her sufficiency claim.

18
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Vv

Under plain error review, the indictment as to Countsl42was not
constructively amended and the evidence was sufficient to support Ms. Leon’s

convictions.

AFFIRMED.
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